
Congress of the United States' 
Washignton, D.C. 

DAC- 00 4 17l - 03

January 29, 2003 

The Honorable George J. Tenet 
Director of Central Intelligence 
Washington, DC 20505 

Dear Director Tenet: 

As you know, the final report of the Joint Inquiry into the events of September 11 
has been submitted to the Intelligence Community for declassification review. We look 
forward to early release of the pubnc report so that efforts at reforms can be 
accelerated. 

Having been privileged to lead this bipartisan, bicameral investigation last year, 
we are committed to working in the current Congress to help secure implementation of 
its recommendallons. ln furtherance of that goal, we are writing to the President and 
heads of departments and agencies about portions of the Joint. Inquiry's 
recommendations that may be of partlcular concern to them. 

Our first recommendation calls for establishment of a Director of National 
Intelligence, or DNI, who In addition to being the President's principal intelligence 
adviser "shall have the full range of management, budgetary and personnel 
responsibilities needed to make the U.S. lntemgence Community operate as a coherent 
whole." To help promote both strong leadership of the entire Intelligence Community 
leadership and an effective CIA, the Joint Inquiry also recommended that Congress 
provide that the DNI not simultaneously serve as director of the CIA or any other 
agency. In considering this recommendation, the Congress will certainly, we believe, 
benefit from learning of your views about the strengthening of the role of head cf the 
Intelligence Community. 

A number of the recommendations thal follow address proposed tasks of the 
Director of National Intelligence, but as that reform will require study and deliberation, 
for the Immediate future those further recommendations are directed to the Director of 
Central Intelligence as the present statutory head of the Intelligence Community. 

Tho Joint Inquiry found that prior to September 11 neither the U.S. Government 
as a Whole nor the Intelligence Community had a comprehensive counterterrorist 
strategy. One of our recommendations calls en the National Security Council, In 
conjundion with key agency and department heads, to prepare such a strategy for the 
President's approval. The recommendation states that 1he strategy should be 
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"government wide,  apply both "home and abroad," and include "the growing terrorism 
threat posed by the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction and associated 
technologies.· The recommendation asks that this strategy identify and fully engage the 
lnlelltgence as well as foreign policy, economic, military and law enforcement elements 
that are "critical to a comprehensive blueprint for success in the war against terrorism.· 
The Director of Central Intelligence's full participation in this overall process will be 
essential, as will the DCl's development of the Intelligence Community component of 
the full strategy. The Joint Inquiry recommended that the Intelligence Community's 
component of the overall strategy include a number of important items, among them 
development of human sources to penetrate terrorist organizatlons and networks. 

To provide to the Congress and Executive Branch policymakers intelligence 
estimates on terrorism, the Joint Inquiry has recommended establishment on the 
National Intelligence Council of the position of National Intelligence Officer for 
Terrorism. The recommendation suggests that the person holding this position also 
assist the Intelligence Community in developing a program for strategic analysis. 

Another recommendation addresses the need for Congress and the 
Administration to ensure development within the Department of Homeland Security of 
an effective all-source terrorism lnfonnation fusion center. as mandated by the 
Homeland Security Act of 2002. The success of that fusion center will depend, as the 
recommendation states, on the cente(s "full and timely access to all counterterrortsm­
related Intelligence information including "raw" supporting data as needed." Your action 
to ensure full cooperation between the entire Intelligence Community (including, of 
course, the CIA) and lhe Department of Homeland Security will be fundamental to the 
success of this vital reform. We applaud the President's announcement of the 
establishment of a new Terrorist Threat Integration Center, which we understand will be 
located under the Director of Central Intelligence. The important challenge, we believe, 
is to assure the full and harmonious implementation of both the information fusion 
requirement of the Homeland Security Act and the center that the President announced. 

The recommendations include a list of significant reforms that the Intelligence 
Committees believe are essential for strengthening the FBl's domestic intelligence 
capability. ln regard to these critically needed refonns. the Joint Inquiry has 
recommended that Congress should direct that the head of the lntelllgence Community, 
together with the Attorney General and the Secretary of Homeland Security, should 
report to Congress on the FBl's progress. The report should inciude the specific 
manner in which a new domestic Intelligence service could be established in the United 
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States, recognizing the need to enhance national security while fully protecting civil 
liberties." 

The Committees expressed their strong conviction that "'the Intelligence 
Community's employees remain its greatest resource.• They recommend that the head 
of the lntelllgence Community should require that measures be Implemented to greatly 
enhance the recruitment and development of a workforce wUh the intelligence skills and 
expertise needed for success in counterterrorlst efforts.· Several particular adions are 
set forth in the recommendation. One is that Intelligence Community agencies should 
expand and improve counterterrorism training, including about Information sharing 
among law enforcement and intelllgence personnel, the use of the Foreign Intelligence 
Surveillance Act, and watchlisting. The recommendation includes steps to improve 
Intelligence Community language capabilities and the utilization of the skills and 
experience of retired personnel. ll calls on the Intelligence Community to "enhance 
recruitment of a more ethnically and culturally diverse workforce.· 

A further personnel recommendation proposes, in part, that Congress enact 
legislation, modeled on the landmark Goldwater-Nichols Department of Defense 
Reorganization Act of 1986, to help Instill the concept of "jointless" throughout the 
Intelligence Community and ensure that its components will work more closely together 
than has been the case. The mechanisms identified In the recommendation Include 
such things as Joint tours for Intelligence and law enforcement personnel as well as 
incentives for joint service throughout the Intelligence Community. In developing these 
ideas, Congress would benefit from the Administration's detailed proposals. 

The Joint Inquiry identified several important objectives concerning dassified 
infonnation, Including expanding access by federal agencies outside the Intelligence 
Community, by state and local authorities, and by the American public. To this end, we 
recommended that the Director of Central Intelligence, in consultation with the heads of 
key components of the Intelligence Community, including the Attorney General, should 
report to the Intelligence Committees on ·proposals for a new and more realistic 
approach to the processes and structures that have governed the designation of 
sensitive and dasslfled information.· The report should also address ·proposals to 
protect against the use of the dassificalion process as a shield to protect agency setf­
interest."' 

The Congress and the Nation as a whole will be grateful for your attention and 
response to these and other matters identified in the course of the Joint Inquiry. 
Further, we are confident that the Congress wtll benefit from other recommendations 
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that you might have for legislative or administrative action to improve the Nation's 
counterterrorist capabilities. 

Bob GrahamPorter Goss

Bob Graham 
Chairman, Senate JnteUigence 
Committee, 107th Congress 

Vice Chainnan, Senate Intelligence 
Committee, 107th Congress 

Enclosure: As stated 

Porter Goss 
Chairman, House Intelligence 
Committee, 107th and 108th 
Congresses 

Pelosi
Ranking Minority Member, House 
Intelligence Committee, 107th Congress 
and Member ex officio (as Minority 

Leader). 108th Congress 
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PART FOUR FINDING, DISCUSSION AND NARRATIVE REG ARDING CERTAIN 

SENSITIVE NATIONAL SECURITY MA TTERS

20. Finding: While in the United States, some of the September 11 hijackers were in 

contact with, and received support ur assistance from, individuals who may be connected to 

the Saudi Government. There is information, primarily from FBI sources, that at least two 

of those individuals were alleged by some to be Saudi intelligence officers. The Joint 

Inquiry's review confirmed that the Intelligence Community also has information, much of 

which has yet to be independently verified, indicating rhat individuals associated with the 

Saudi Government in the United States may have other ties to al-Qa'ida and other terrorist 

groups. The FBI and CIA have informed the Joint Inquiry that, since the September 11

attacks, they are treating the Saudi issue seriously, but both still have only a limited 

understanding of the Saudi Government's ties to terrorist element. In their testimony, 

neither CIA nor FBI witnesses were able to identify definitively the extent of Saudi support 

for terrorist activity globally or within the United States and the extent to which such 

support, if it exists, is knowing or inadvertent in nature. The FBl's Washington Field 

Office created a squad devoted to 

. Only recently, and 

at least in part due to the Joint Inquiry's focus on this issue, did the FBI and CIA establish 

a working group to address the Saudi issue. In the view of the Joint Inquiry, this gap in 

U.S. intelligence coverage is unacceptable, given the magnitude and immediacy of the 

potential risk to U.S. national security. The Intelligence Community needs to address this 

area of concern as aggressively and as quickly as possible. 

Discussion: One reason for the limited understanding is that it was only after September 

11 that the U.S. Government began to aggressively investiate this issue. Prior to September 

11th, the FBI apparently did not focus investigative resources on 

Saudi nationals in the United States due to SaudiArabia's status as an American 

"ally." A representative of the FBI testified that, prior to 
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September 11, 2001, the FBI received "no reporting from any member of the Intelligence 

Community" that there was a presence in the United States. 

According to various FBI documents and at least one CIA memorandum some of the 

September 11 hijackers, while in the United States, apparently had contacts with individuals who 

may be connected to the Saudi Government. While the Jomt Inquiry uncovered this material 

during the course of its review of FBI and ClA documents, it did not attempt to investigate and 

assess the accuracy and significance of this information independently, recognizing that such a 

task would be beyond the scope of this Jomt Inquiry. Instead, the Joint Inquiry referred a 

detailed compilation of information uncovered by the Inquiry in documents and interviews to the 

FBI and ClA for further investigation by the Intelligence Communuy and, if appropriate, law 

enforcement agencies. A brief summary of the available information regarding some of these 

individuals is illustrative for purposes of this report. 

Omar al-Bayoumi. The FBI has received numerous reports from individuals in the 

Muslim community, dating back to 1999, alleging that al-Bayoumi may be a Saudi 

intelligence officer. FBl files suggest that al-Bayoumi provided substantial assisstance to 

hijackers Khalid al-Mihdhar and Nawaf al-Hazmi after they arrived in San Diego in 

February 2000. Al-Bayoumi met the hijackers at a public place shortly after his meeting 

with an individual at the Saudi consulate and there are indications in the files that his 

encounter with the hijackers may not have been accidental. During this same timeframe, 

al-Bayoumi had extensive contact with Saudi Government establishments in the United 

States and received financial support from a Saudi company affiliated with the Saudi 

Ministry of Defense. According to FBI files, at the company said that al-

Bayoumi received a monthly salary even though he had been there on only one occasion. 

This support increased substantially in April 2000, two months after the hijackers arrived 

in San Diego, decreased slightly in December 2000, and stayed at that same level until 

August 200 l. That company reportedly had ties to Usama Bin Laden and al-Qa'ida. In 

addition, the FBI determined that al-Bayoumi was in contact with several individuals 

under FBI investigation and with the Holy Land Foundation, which has been under 

investigation as a fundraising front for Hamas; 



Osama Bassnan. Bassnan may have been in contact with al-Mihdhar and al-Hazmi 

during their time in San Diego. Bassnan was a close associate of al-Bayoumi and Omar 

Bakarbashat, another one of the hijackers' close associates. He also lived across the 

street from the hijackers, and made a comment to an FBI asset that he did more than al­

Bayoumi did for the hijackers. According to an FBI document, Bassnan told another 

individual that he met al-Hazmi through al-Bayoumi and later that he met two of the 

hijackers through al-Bayoumi. He also told the asset that al-Bayoumi was arrested 

because he knew al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar very well. The document goes on to state that 

Bassnan and al-Bayoumi have been "close to each other for a long time." Bassnan has 

many tics to the Saudi Government, including past employment by the Saudi Arabian 

Education Mission, referred to in FBI documents as 

The FBI also received reports from 

individuals in the Muslim community alleging that Bassnan might be a Saudi intelligence 

officer. According to a CIA memo, Bassnan reportedly received funding and possibly a 

fake passport from Saudi Government officials. He and his wife have received financial 

support from the Saudi Ambassador to the United States and his wife. A CIA report also 

indicates that Bassnan traveled to Houston in 2002 and met with an individual who was 

 The The report states that during that trip a member of the Saudi Royal family 

provided Bassnan with a significant amount of cash. FBI information indicates that 

Bassnan is an extremist and supporter of Usama Bin Laden, and has been connected to the 

Eritrean Islamic Jihad and the Blind Shaykh;  

• Shaykh al-Thumairy. According to FBI documents and a CIA memorandum, al-Hazmi 

and al-Mihdhar may have been in contact with Shaykh al-Thumairy, an accredited 

diplomat at the Saudi Consulate in Los Angeles and one of the "imams" at the King 

Fahad mosque in Culver City, California. Also according to FBI documents, the mosque 

was built in 1998 from funding provided by Saudi Arabia's Crown Prince Abdulaziz. 

The mosque is reportedly attended by members of the Saudi Consulate in Los Angeles 

and is widely recognized for its anti-Western views. 



• Saleh al-Hussayen. In September 2001, Saleh al-Hussayen, reportedly a Saudi Interior 

Ministry official, stayed at the same hotel in Herndon, Virginia where al-Hazmi was 

staying. While al-Hussayen claimed after September 11 not to know the hijackers, FBI 

agents believed he was being deceptive. He was able to depart the United States despite 

FBI efforts to locate and re-interview him; and 

• Abdullah Bin Ladin. Abdullah Bin Ladin claims to work for the Saudi Embassy in 

Washington, D.C. as an administrative officer. He is identified by the FBI as Usama Bin 

Ladin's half-brother. He is a close friend of Mohammed Quadir -Harunani, a possible 

associate of Mohammed Atta and Marwan al-Shehhi prior to September 11, 2001. 

The Joint Inquiry also found other indications that individuals connected to the Saudi 

Government have ties to terrorist networks, including: 

The CIA and FBI have identified the Ibn Tamiyah Mosque in Culver City as a site of 

extremist -related activity. Several subjects of FBI investigations prior to September 11 

had close connections to the mosque and are believed to have laundered money through 

this mosque to non-profit organizations overseas affiliated with Usama Bin Ladin. In an 

interview, an FBI agent said he believed that Saudi Governmetn money was being 

laundered through the mosque; 

Another Saudi national with close ties to the Saudi Royal Family, , is the 

subject of FBI counterterrorism investigations and reportedly was checking security at 

the United States' southwest border in 1999 and discussing the possibility of infiltrating 

individuals into the United States; 

According to FBI documents several of the phone numbers found in the phone book of 

Abu Zubaida, a :i senior al-Qa'ida operative captured in Pakistan in March 2002, could be 

linked, at least indirectly, to telephone numbers in the United States. One of those U.S. 

numbers is subscribed to by the ASPCOL Corporation, which is located in Aspen, 



Colorado, and manages the affairs of the Colorado residence of the Saudi Ambassador 

Bandar. The FBI noted that ASPCOL has an unlisted telephone number. A November 

18, 2002 FB1 response to the Joint Inquiry states that "CIA traces have revealed no direct 

links between numbers found in Zubaida's • phone book and numbers in the United 

States." 

According to an FBI document, the telephone number of a bodyguard at the Saudi 

Embassy in Washington, DC, who some have alleged may be a 

was also found in Abu Zubaida's possessions; and 

• According to an FBI agent in Phoenix, the FBI suspects Mohammed al-Qudhacein of 

Al-Qudhacein was involved in a 1999 incident aboard 

an America West flight, which the FBI's Phoenix office now suspects may have been a 

"dry run" to test airline security. During the flight, al-Qudhacein and his associate asked 

the flight attendants a variety of suspicious questions; al-Qudhacein then attempted to 

enter the cockpit on two occasions. Al-Qudhacein and his associate were flying to 

Washignton, D.C. to attend a party at the Saudi Embassy and both claimed that their 

tickets were paid for by the Saudi Embassy. During the course of its investigations, the 

FBI has discovered that both al-Qudhacein and the other individual involved in this 

incident had connections to terrorism. 

Finally, the Committees are particularly concerned about the serious nature of allegations 

contained in a ClA memorandum found by the Joint Inquiry staff in tne files of the FBI's San 

Diego Field Office. That memorandum, which discusses alleged financial connections between 

the September 11 hijackers, Saudi Government officials, and members of the Saudi Royal 

Family, was drafted by a CIA officer , relying primarily on 

information from FBl files. The CIA officer sent it to the CTC to determine whether CIA had 

additional information. He also provided a copy to the FBI agent responsible for the 

investigation of one of the individuals discussed in the memorandum. Despite the clear national 

implications of the ClA memorandum, the FBI agent included the memorandum in an individual 

case file and did not forward it to FB 1 Headquarters. FBI Headquarters, therefore, was unaware 
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of statements in the memorandum until the Joint Inquiry brought the memorandum's 

implications to the Bureau's attention 

Possible Saudi Government Conntections to Terrorists and Terrorist Groups 

While in the United States, some of the September 11 hijackers were in contact with, and 

received support or assistance from, individuals who may be connected to the Saudi 

Government. There is information from FBI sources, that at least two of those individuals were 

alleged to be Saudi intelligence officers . The Joint Inquiry's review confirmed that the 

Intelligence Community also has information, much of which remains speculative and yet to be 

independently verified, indicating that Saudi Government officials in the United States may have 

other ties to al-Qa'ida and other terrorist groups. 

The Committees are particularly concerned about the serious nature of allegations 

contained in a CIA memorandum found within the files of the FBI's San Diego Field Office. 

That memorandum, which discusses alleged financial connections between the September 11 

hijackers, Saudi Government officials, and members of the Saudi Royal Family was drafted by a 

CIA officer . relying primarily on information from FBI files. 

ln their testimony before the Joint Inquiry, neither the CIA nor the FBI was able to 

definitively identify for these Committees the extent of Saudi support for terrorist activity 

globally or within the United States and the extent to which such support, if it exists, is 

intentional or innocent in nature. Both the FBI and CIA have indicated to the Committees that 

they are now aggressively pursuing Saudi-related terrorism issues. 

Prior to September 11th, the FBI apparently did not focus investigative 

Saudi nationals in 

the United States due to Saudi Arabia's status as an American "ally''. 

. A representative of the FBI's testified in closed 



hearings that prior to September 11 th, the FBI received "no reporting from any member of the 

lntelligencc Community" that there is a presence in the United States. 

It should be clear that this Joint Inquiry has made no final determinations as to the 

reliability or sufficiency of the information regarding these issues that we found contained in FBI 

and ClA documents. It was not the task of this Joint Inquiry to conduct the kind of extensive 

investigation that would be required to determined the true significance of any such alleged 

connections to the Saudi Government. On the one hand, it is possible that these kinds of 

connections could suggest as indicated in a dated July 2, 2002, 

"incontrovertible evidence that there is support for these terrorists within the Saudi 

Government." On the other hand, it is also possible that further investigation of these allegations 

could reveal legitimate, and innocent, explanations for these associations. 

Given the serious national security implications of this information, however the 

leadership of the Joint Inquiry is reforming the staff's complication of relevant information to both 

the FBI and the CIA for investigative review and appropriate investigative and intelligence 

action. 

Possible Connections Between the September 11 Hijackers and Saudi Government Officials 
in the United States 

In reviewing FBI documents and the CIA memorandum, the Joint Inquiry Staff has 

examined information suggesting that: 

One individual who provided assistance to Nawaf al- Hazmi an Khalid al-Mihdhar may 

be connected to the Saudi Government. A second individual who may have been in 

contact with al-Hazmi and Al-Mihdhar also has ties to the Saudi Government, including 

connections to the Saudi Ambassador to the United States. There is reporting in FBI files 

that persons have alleged that both of these individuals may be Saudi intelligence 

officers; 



The September 11 hijackers may have been in contact with other Saudi Government 

officials in the United States prior to the September 11 attacks; and 

Saudi Government officials in the United States may have ties to Usama Bin Ladin's 

terrorist network. 

Omar al-Bayoumi and Osama Bassnan 

Two individuals known to the FBI prior to September 11, 2001 - Omar al-Bayoumi and 

Osama Bassnan - may have provided assistance or support to al-Hazmi and al-M ihdhar while the 

two hijackers-to-be were living in San Diego. While the documentary evidence that al-Bayoumi 

provided assistance to al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar is solid, the files contain only limited evidence 

that Osama Bassnan had contacts with the two indiv iduals. 

When al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar moved to San Diego, al-Baymoumi provided them with 

considerable assistance. Before the hijackers moved in with the long-time FBI informant they 

stayed at al-Bayoumi's apartment for several days until al-Bayoumi was able to find them an 

apartment. Al-Bayoumi then co-signed their lease and may have paid their first month's rent and 

security deposit.1 After al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar moved into their own apartment, al-Bayoumi 

threw a party to welcome them to the San Diego community. He also tasked Modhar Abdullah, 

another individual from the Islamic Center of San Diego (ICSD) to help them get acclimated to 

the United States. Abdullah served as their translator, helped them get drivers' licenses, and 

assisted them in locating flight schools. 

' The FBI notes, in its November 18, 2002 response that "financial records indicate a cash deposit of the same 
amount as the cashier's check into al-Bayoumi's bank account on the same day, which suggests that the hijackers 
reimbursed him." FBI November 18 Response, 3. However, another FBI document, dated October 14, 2002, 
appears to reach a slightly different conclusion. This document states that "a review of Khalid Al-Mihdhar and 
Nawaf Al-Hazmi's bank records indicate there is no bank documentation that supports the reimbursement of [the 
rent money] or any monies to Omar Al-Bayoumi from al-Hazmi or Al-Mihdhar." 



During the post-September 11 investigation, the FBI discovered that al-Bayoumi had far 

more extensive ties to the Saudi Government than previously realized. In fact, according to an 

October 14, 2002 FBI document, al-Bayoumi has "extensive ties to the Saudi Government." The 

connections identified by the FBI are: 

Al-Bayoumi had been an accountant at the Saudi Civil Aviation Adminsitration from 

1976 to 1993, when he relocated to the United States; 

According to the FBI al-Bayoumi was in frequent contact with the Emir at the Saudi 

Ministry of Defense responsible for air traffic control, 

The FBI has also located records, indicating that al-Bayoumi received $20,000 from 

the Saudi Ministry of Finance at one point; 

When al-Bayoumi applied to schools in the United States in 1998, he had a letter 

from the Saudi Embassy, which stated that he was getting a full scholarship from the 

Government of Saudi Arabia; and 

While in San Diego, al-Bayoumi was receiving money from the Saudi Ministry of 

Defense through a Saudi company callee "Ercan." of that company 

informed the FBI after September 11, 2001 that, although al-Bayoumi only showed 

up at the company on one occasion, he received a monthly salary and allowances. 

stated that, at first, he attempted to refuse to pay al-Bayoumi a monthly 

salary, but he was told that his company would lose their contract if he did not pay 

him. 

corruption. 

informed the FBI that at the time, he attributed this to Saudi 

Al-Bayoumi also had frequent contact with Saudi establishments in the United States. In 

a review of telephone toll records, the FBI learned that al-Bayoumi called Saudi Government 

establishments in the United States almost l 00 times between January and May of 2000. 

According to the FBI, al-Bayoumi was in contact with at least three individuals at the Saudi 

-: 



Embassy in Washignton, DC; two individuals at the Saudi Arabian Cultural Mission in 

Washington, DC. and three individuals in the Saudi Consulate in Los Angeles. In a search of 

Bayoumi's 

Two former San Diego agents addressed the issue of whether al-Bayoumi was an 

intelligence officer at the October 9, . 2002 closed hearing. The former case agent who handled 

[Al-Bayoumi] acted like a Saudi intelligence officer, in my opinion. And if he was 

involved with the hijackers, which it looks like he was, if he signed leases, if he provided 
some sort of financing or payment of some sort, then I would say that there's a clear 
possibility that there might be a connection between Saudi intelligence and UBL.

A former Assistant Special Agent in Charge in San Diego testified that the FB1 received 

"numerous,  I would say half a dozen" reports from individuals who believed that al-Bayoumi 

was a Saudi intelligence officer. The FBI's November I 8th response is inconsistent as to whether 

the FBI currently is designating al-Bayoumi as a suspected Saudi intelligence officer. In its 

response, the FBI notes that al-Bayoumi 

September 11th, but the response also states that "there is no evidence" to conclude that al-

Bayoumi is a Saudi intelligence officer. 

The FBI had received reporting from a reliable source well prior to September 11, 2001 

indicating that al-Bayoumi might be a Saudi intelligence officer. Al-Bayoumi was known to 

have access to large amounts of money from Saudi Arabia, despite the fact that he did not appear 

to hold a job. On one occasion prior to September 11, the FBI received information that al-

Bayoumi had received $400,000 1 from Saudi Arabia to help fund a new mosque in San Diego. 

The FBI conducted a counterterrorism investigation on al-Bayoumi in 1998 and 1999, but closed 

the investigation at that point. 



Since September 11, 2001, FBI investigation revealed that al-Bayoumi has some ties to 

terrorist elements. Pasquale J. D'Amuro, · the Executive Asistant Director for Counterterrorism 

and Counterintelligence testified in the October 9, 200 2 hearing that: 

[w]e've been talking with the Government about collection on an individual 
named who has ties to al-Qa'ida who has ties to Baoumi. 

In addition, the FBI reported the results of their search of al-Bayoumi's that, 

"after an exhaustive translations of Bayoumi's documents, it is clear that in Bayoumi's 

correspondence he is providing guidance to young Muslims and some of his writings can be 

interpreted as jihadist." 

According to information acquired by the FBI after September 11, 2001, al-Bayoumi also 

noted on one of his school applications that he worked for a company called "Dallah/Aveo." 

According to the FBI, Ercan is a .. San Diego subcontractor of Dallah/Aveo. According to a 

separate document, Dallah and Avco are under the same umbrella company, Aveo Dallah 

Trans Arab, which is a subsidiary of Al Barakaat Investment and Development Company. Aveo 

Dallah reportedly holds the contracts for cleaning and maintenance at the three major airports in 

Saudi Arabia. The document states that 

the company has links to Usama Bin Ladin. FBI Headquarters was informed of the affiliation 

between Dallah/Aveo and Al Barakaat in February 2001, but the San Diego Field Office 

apparently never got this information. 

According to FBI documents, al-Bayoumi's pay increased during the time that al-Hazmi 

and al-Mihdhar were in the Umtcd States. According to a recent  analysis of ties between 

the terrorist attacks and elements of the Saudi Government, before al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar 

arrived in the U.S ., al-Bayoumi generally received approximately $465 per month in 

"allowances." According to the document, in March 2000, a month after al-Hazmi and al- 

Mihdhar arrived in San Diego, his "allowances" jumped to over $3,700700 a month and stayed 

constant until December 2000, when al-Hazmi left San Diego. Al-Bayoumi's allowances were 

then decreased to approximately $3,200 a month and stayed at that rate until al-Bayoumi left the 

United States in August 2001, approximately one month before the September 11 , attacks.
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f..l.15man al.:;o has dose: ti..:!i ~o :: numh1.T uf other 1mfr.-iJual:; .:•.mnc::tcd lo th.; 

hij.JCh."rs, in.:ludin\! Omar 3::.ka:-bas~:11. Jiscuss~·d hdow . who 1~ rcfr·::r:d tl1 m FHi 

<lo.;um..:nls a..; B.i5s:i:.m 's brother-in-hi'"'; 

A.:~(.l~dmg t.~ :rn Oc1ohcr l 11 :001 rm doc.t:mcm. l3;1s:;11:m :nlnrm..:d a:1 ,1s,ct :hal ht: 

lt:.i<l mcl Na,\ Jf til-Haltni througl1 ai·ll:iyoumi He we~: nr. tu .. :iy that !u: u·i,;t l\.\O of 

:he n.in.::kcn r.:j:ickers ::1rou;., Om:!~ :tl·B3ytJumi. Accordi:11; ll, ~t~ FHI .io~u:nt.11t. h,: 

.tlso toll! \h..: ~t~-~et th.~~ al-Bayoumi \\a:; ,tr:-cstcci hc.:Jusc he knc·.r. :il-H:.i .. n~1i ;,nJ ai­

~lth<lhlr \ er~· wdl. Tile CIJ(:!Jmcnt f~1.:~ {'11 lo s!a:t: l:rnl .8.tssa;ui J;td ai•Baymnni 

ha\~ bec.:n ··ctosc to c:ic-h <',he:-for,\ \un1:: li:m.: •· 

R:issmm livce 1n the ap.m.~n::r.t c-rir,..plcx in San Di~ro ~cm s th~ s:r.:!t fr.im a! Ha;• ... -.: 

Jnd a!-~!i:"1dh:u; 

Rassu:in maJ~ :i. coinmcn: lo in FBI ~our.:\: af~cr the Scpt&.::mocr 1 ! ~tlacks sugge!-ling 

lha1 he did more for the hijxkers tha.~ .1l-B.l~'o1.1·n! da!; 

.!~, .. 



1bc FBi :s a'"''illc of cun:act hcrwceo the Ujackers and a. clo;e ihemi uf BasstianTs. 

Khal~i al-K.iycd, a con~mercia! airline pilot and t;c!rttfied fllght instructor Jving m 

San Diego. Al-Kayc:d admitted to lbe FRI that in May 2000. 2.1 M:hdhar and al­

Haz.mi contacted him about learning to fly Boeir.gjet aircraft; 

'F-BI documents .lal)eCU-late that Osama Bassnan 

I The FBI's November 18, 2002- n:»l'ons~ contends lhal tJ:j!. was 

an early investigative theory based o:i ~d reporting which the FBJ has not been able to 

co:roborate.. llowever, 11lcre is also additional infoll!lation possibly tying B:1ssmm t~ 

' ln 1992. while h.c W.LS living in Washington, DC. Bas!.11'.!."I hslcri hi.:; m:nployment as 

fae Saudi Arnbian Education Mission FBl documents state that 

B~snan also has other ties lo the Saudi Government. Ra.~nan's wife rt:ccived :i. monthly 

stiper.d from Princt-.ss Haifa. 1n a rect:'!ll search ofBGSsnan's rcsidc:ncc. lhe FBt lo..:,1tcci copies of 

31 (:asb.iets checks totaling S74,000, d'.lring the period Fcbru.a:y 21, 199Q to M:iy 30, 2002 

These checks were payable 10 Ba~snan's w1fo .u1d were drn.wn on fr:~ Riggs Dank accc.1un1 of 

Prince Bandar's wife. The FBI has determined that there has been a standing order on Pnr.c~s 

Haif a·s account since January 1999 to ser.d S2000 a ro.o::it.1 tu .Sassna.'1's wife. el!-sna...-.·s wifo 

was allegedly receiving the funding for "n~sing services," bu1, dtcording to the. docummt, 

there is Tio evidence rh:n Bassmm's wife provided nu;sing !.e;viccs. 

I 

Ou at !east one occ..:J.sion, B::u;snan roceiverl a check direcrJy f.r-.)m Pnncc ~andar'i: 

a.::.cou~t. Ac.;;ording to the FBI, on May 111, l 998, Bassnan cashed a ct,cck. from Ba.'1.dar in lh~ 

anwur.t of $15,000. Oassllan 's wife also recc:i\:cd at least on~ ch~ck direcUy from I3andar She 

also received om: additiona l check from Bandar's wife. which s:ie cashed o.:i Jar.ua:y S, 1998. for 

S10,000. 
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Lr, the October 9, 2002 bearing FBI Executive Assi-tant Dlfcctor D' A."T1uro commt!ll~ed 

o:i this funaing: 

J believe that we do have money going from Bandar's wife, $2,000 a montlJ up to abo:it 
$64,000. What. the money was for is what we don't blow.'' 

testif:ed: 

. She gives money to a 
lot of different g-:-oups and people .tom around the, orl . We've. been able Lour.cover~ 
number o! these •.. but maybe if we can discover that she g:rvcs to 20 different radical 
groups, well, .gee, maybe there', :i ?attem here. 

'The FBI hns nlso developed a.dditionai information clc.uly indicating that Bassnan is an 

extremist and supporter of Usll!na Bin L.ldm. In l ~93, the-FBI bi::camc aware that B15Snar. had 

hosted a party for the Blind Shaykh at hjs house in Washington, DC ir. Octubi:r 1992. Bn.ssne:i 

bs made many laudatory remarks tn FBI asset~ about Bin Ladin, refcrring rn Rin Ladin as the 

~)ffic1al Kballfate aud the rulc:r of the Islamic world Acc:ordir.g to an FBJ as;.et, Bas!im.11 spoke 

of Din Ladin ''as :f he \VeTe. .i god ," Bassnan a!so stated to :u; FBI assc: that he bc.'Vd that t!1e 

U.S. Govenunenl had swppcd approving visas for foreign stuJc::nts. Ik co;i:.idcrc.! sud: 

m~s1:res to be insu.fficier.t a:. th~e an: alre:tdy enough }l...bslim!i m the United St2les to destroy 

t:1e Cnitetl States and make it an Islamic s:atc withL."'1. ten lo fit1ecn years Acconhng to RI 

documcr..ts. Bassn.!n also k..ew 3in Ladin's family in S:iudi Arabia and speaks on his mobile 

tele:;,hcoe with m(!'fllbcrs of the family who are living in the United States. 

Phone Numbers Linking Abu Zub.iida lo a Compuny in tht: Uuited States and a Sam.ii 

Diplomat in Washiogtou 

On March 28, 20(t2 U.S. and coaliuon forces retrieved the telt:phone book of Abu 

Z.uonida, whom th~ U.S. Governmcot ~ idmtified a.'i a. senior al-Q:;i'ida op~rational 

coordinator According !o an FBI ctocumc:nt, ''a review of roll records has hnked .scver;;.l ofthe 

numbers f(•uud in Zilba,da's phont:book with US. phone nut.-rihcrs." One of the nu:nbers 1s 

unlisted and sub,-c:iberl lo oy the ASPCOi:.-Coq1oratl:m in Asp~ Caloracil)_ On July 15, 2002, 

J.•Jr.:i.c.~ n• ~ :,11" 1· 



FDi Hcadqua11ers :;:ent a lead to lhc Denver Field Office: rcquesLing that 1t investigate this 

connectiua. Ou September i 9, 2002 agents of Lhc Denvc:~ Field Office rcspond<:d, )1.at.;ng U1at 

they had completed their initial investigation. 

Ac:cording to the FBl's Denver Office, ASPCOL lS the wnbrcli::i. corporation that 

manages the affairs of the Colorado resic.!eoce of Prince nandar, thi: Saudi amb<'.ssado!' to Lh:: 

United States. The facility is protected by Scir::itar Security. Agents of tl:tc Deaver Fio?ld Offic~ 

nored that ncit.,er ASPCOL nor Scirm~ar Security is listed in the phone book or :s c=asi!y 

iooatruile. In :iJdition., tho Coiorndo s~rotnr)' ofStntc's office h..ii. nc r,o,cord cf.".SJJCOL . TI1c 

Dem·cr offic:: did not auempt Lo make any local inquiries about ASPCOL, :?SI.hey believed that 

any inquiries reg:mling ASPCOL would he quickly !<J\oWo by Prince Bandar's employetit. Due 

to th: sensitivity of this maner, they decided to holu theu investigation of ASPCOL in aocya.11cc 

until t:1ey recci,;ec e.d<litional guidance from FBI Hcdqua.'icr:.... 

According \o the FBI. the phooe awober of an inc.Hv1dual nmned 

McL~an, Virgm1a was found witlnn the effects of Ah:.1 l'.tbatda. is reportedly a 

of 

t,otlyg:.uml ,H th~ Saudi E:nhassy in Washingtun, DC. The r BI now sU:.jJCCts that h~ 1:1ay be a. 

. In :i Sep:ember 17, ::!002 doc..:-:nent., the FBI no e..i. th!! the B'.:r~au 1s 

opening ;m investigation on- due to the size and value ofl.is residence and lus suspiciom: 

activity in approaching U.S. [ntclligence Communi!y personnel. I: alsc ap?tars · 1a 

has been in contact wi···. . wrjch is located ,;t. 

, in McLean, Vitginia. The FBl has ider.ti!i::d this address ;2:; the nddress of 

l'nncc .Bandar. Accordmg to the FB~- is officittlly a tlnver for th~ S:mdi Embassy. 

:1u1 · er v12u; also lmked to ASPCOL, Pnncc Bar,car's u.,nbrclla. cc:npar.y lacatoc. in 

Colorado 

l! should be note<! that the FBI's Nuvanber 13, 2002 respons~ states that .. CIA rrac::~ 

have .xvcalcrt nu d1recr (emphasis :u:lded) links between numhcrs iounJ :n Zuoajda's phone nook 

:md numbers in tbe United States." 
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The U.S. Government aiso located another Virginia number al "a Usarna Bin Ladin 

.safrhou..c;e in PaJostan. The number iS rubscibed to by an individual rr:mc.<l 

v.-as intcn-icwcd by I.he FBl in Jc.1.c 

2002. He could not explain why his number ended q1 a~ a safcbouse i.n Pakista.., bt:c staled tha: 

he :egularly provides s~niccs to i! couple w:io are personal zssistir.ts .c Prince Bandar Thiz 

couple's tlnve.ris an irulividual n2ml!.d who 1.s assigned to the Sauui 

Embassy in Washi.11gton, DC. Accord.mg L regul&rJy ca lled 

businr-.as 2nd frequently travels brtck and fonh to Pakistan . 

Other Snudi Governm~nt Officials in the United States Wbo May Rnve Been in Coutacr 
with the Stplenl.ber 11 Hijackers 

AmJng ttu::: md: vi duals who may have been assoc,at~ of t'l!! al-!lazmi and al·Mihdh,,r 

was Sbaykh al-Thum.airy. According to U1elllllllmemora.,.1clum reviewed by th~ Joi:1t Inquiry 

Stdl " ini:ial indicat.io.t: are that a:~Thamairy may tave had a physical or fmam."'lal cor.nec:1on i.lJ 

al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar, but wt ~..-c sti11 looking at Uiis possibility ." AJ-Th.um.ury is i, 

accredited diplomat at the Saudi Consulate in Lo:. Angelr.s and is alsn considered one. of the 

"imams" ai the King Fa.12.d Mosque ui Culver City, California. 

According 10 FBI docume~ts, the King Fahad mosque was built in 1996 fro:n r .. ul(fr:,g 

from the Saudi Arlbian Crown .Prince Abdui2.1.i7.. The mosque is anencicd by :ncmben of th:: 

Saudi (o:,s~late in Los Angt:lcs and 1s widely la1own :or lts anti-WQitem views. rBI 

documents indicate !hat Mohdhar Abdullah ci:ovc :il-Ua.zmi a..,d al-Y.Jhdhar :o th!! King Fab.ad 

Mosque. before al-Miht!har returned to Saudi A.111h1a. 

Several individuals on the: East Coast whcm the hijackers may have met ma} also had 

con111:ct1ons to the Saudi Government. After the tcrrori!it attacks, !he F21 di.scovcrGd tha.!., during 

Scp~ber 2001, :!.n i.ndivldual named Sa1::h al-1-fosst!yeri stayed ai fae san:c hr.tel 1r. Hc:-ndon, 

Virginia wher!! al-Hazr:1i was sta)iug ol lhc time. Accmuing to FBl cocumen:s al· Hussayca is 

~p;,a.rently a .. S.mJi Interior Ministry employee/offida::· He cl:timed not ro ~:nn\\' the bij~ckc:-;., 
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but aee:ut.s in the FDJ's Washington Field Offo;c bchevd he was being c!.e~tivc. The interview 

was tr:rrnmated when al-Hussaye:1 ~ith:!r passed nut or feigned a seizure requiring mcd:ca~ 

l:ea!rneut. He was rclc:ascd from !he hospital scv1md days l.i.ter a,,,:d managed to depw1 th~ 

United !:itatcs dc:spite law enforcement ~f.:or"".s to locate a~d n::-ir.lc..~iew hirr.. 

Saleh al-Bussa.yen is the uncle of Sarni Omar al-Hussayen. Sami al-Hussayen is 

connecicd tu the Islamic Assembly of North America (w.JA) and i:. the subjt:et of an FBI 

counteiterrorism investigation. The FBI has al:;o discovered that Saleh al-Hussa.yen is a major 

coa.uib:.m:ir 10 Lhc IA.NA, a uo::i-profit organization based in M~ctugan ,hitt is dcdicmcct 10 the 

spread of Islam worldwide. Ac::ording to the FRI, the IA..NA's mission is actu.aI1y to spread 

!!;Jamie fundamentalism and S:..1a5st docninc throughout the Umted States and the world at 

large. Tht.i IA.NA solici,s fands from wealthy Saudi bcnefactorS, cxtrc:mis1 .isl2m1c ShaykbsJ a.'lc. 

su.,pcct non-govemmcntJI organizations. According Lo r BI documents, IA .... ~A hJs solicited 

money from Priuce Bancar, b11t the docu...'11cnts a.ic uo.:.lec:r .is to whetl.c: lh . .-idar actually 

conu1butc:d money w rhi.s organitation. 

fBl documents aiso indicate that s~vi::ral Saud: Naval officers wer~ m cc:1.tact with tho 

September 11 hijackers. FB1 documt:nts sute that tl:c Sa.i Diego Field Office opened a 

counte:1erronsm investigation o~ an individuiu named Osama Nooh, ~ S:tudi N.11..val oUicer, due 

lu J,j5 association with Nawaf al-H.i.zmi and Khalid :i.l-Mihdh2r. 1n add1tion, La.fi :il-Hilibi, 

another Saudi Naval officer, was in telephonic contact with fhght 77.hijackers Khalid al-Mihdh2r 

a.'l.d Nawaf atpliumi on nine occasions from March 1 !, 2000 to March 27, WOO. 

The Jacksonville FBI Field Office is conducting i!.n investigation to tletcnnine whether 

Saleli Ahmed Bedaiwi, :! Saudi Naval office~ within its tcrritOJ)" was in cor.t!I.C'l wid1 :my of the 

hi1acke.s. 
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The 1-·B I has also discove:-cd scme more t::1uvus connectio~ b~tWee!? Saudi Govcr:unem 

perso;uiel and the hijackers during the course of the PENTll-lOM investigation. For exam?le. 

according to the FBI, an imltv1dual named Fahac Abdullah Saleh Ba.'i.:a.a wa~ close fric.,ds with 

September 11 hijackers .Acned al·Ghimdi and H.:i.m7.a a!~Ghamrli. 3akala previously ... ,"orked 

a..~ a pilot for tht: Saud! Royal family, ftyin2 Usama Bin Ladin bctwccu Af ~a,istan and Saudi 

Arabia during UBL's exile ." In addition, an FBI source stated after September 1 l that he/she 

¥t~s 50% sun:: that al-lvlihdhar was a v1s1tor at an oparum:nt in McLean. Virginia that was 

·occupied in July anci August 2001 by Hamad Alomibi of the S,rnci Emba'"sY Military Division. 

fnl cocuments also note tl12.t Seytcmber J l lu;a:k~r Sai..--cd Alghamd: may have alsu visitc:! t~c 

address . 

Connections Bctwrcn S.audi Covernu,eut Officials in the Unilctl States and Other Possihlc 
:r~rrorist Oper!.ltiVes 

The foint Inquiry also reviewed information m rBI files, suggei>lmg other possible 

cormcctions b~:wecn Saudi Govanment officials and tcrronsl operatives 

For example, according to FBI documents, there is evidence th,u hijackers M:1rwan 2.I­

Shchhi a::nd Mohammed .~t!.d were in contact with .Mohammed Rafique Quadir Harurumi. the 

suhje,;1 of an FBI coun1c:rterror..sm i."'l.vestigarion s~nce 1999 .J:1d n close a..<,.soc11te of Abdullai1 

Bin Lndin, who is referred to in FBI docc.i.'1l.ents as Usama Bin L3dtn's half !>rather. Abd!lllah 

Bin Ladin, who is the ~'Ubjcct of several FBI investigations, is curreatJy in the United States. 

He claims to work !or 

1.be Saudi Ar:ibtil..'1 Embassy in Washington, DC a:; an adrniC1istrative officer. Abdullah Bin Ladi11 

has financ~ Quudir's company a.,d is tisced by QuJ.dir as the emergency contnc! {or Qu:uiir's 

childn::n. Th.:y a.:e m frequent email and phone contact as we!l 
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According lO the FBI. Ab<lullab Bin Ladin hns a number of coru,ections to terronsi. 

org11.niz.ations. He is the Presidc.,t and Du-eclor of the World Arab Mt:&lim Youth Association 

(\V AMY) and lhe Institute of u;lamic and Arabic Scie:rccs u1 America. Both orgaruzatioos arc 

local branches ofaon~govemmenlal organi2.ations (NGOs) baseu in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia 

According Lo the FBI, 1h~c is rea.so:. lo believe lhat W AMY is "closely 2SS0.::i.ited with the 

fonding anci financing. of internatioual terrori1o't actiV1tics and in :he pac.t has pro,tidcd logistical 

suwor1 to ind1v1duals wishing to fight in the Mghan War." ill l 998. tile C1A published a paper 

eharacteriz.mg W A...v:¥ es a NGO \hat provides funding. lo;ist1ca! support and tre.wing with 

possible connections to Uic Arab A!ghans network. Ham as, Algcnan ex1.rem1st'i. c."'ld f'ill.Jippint! 

.militants. 2 

AJ:;;o of ;:iotcutial interest, at least in :urospecl, is the: 1999 i:,ddcnl ir.\'o:vbg ~fohammed 

al-Qudha~n anc.! Hamd.an al-Shalawi. AI-Qudhaccir: a=1d al-~:ial:nvi were fl)i.ng fror:1 ?noe::ix 

to Wasrjngtor., DC to a~cnd .a pa1ty at the Saud: Emb~sy. /\.f'.:r they boarded the plane: in 

Phoenix, they began asking the llight attendants technical question,; aboi.:t th:! fligh~ t.,3.t the 

iligbt auf!ndants founc s:.aspidous. Wtcn the pla..r1e was in flight, al-Qudhaecin a.skt:ti where the 

hath.room was; 0111: of the il.ig...'it atte,nd,mrs rointcd hi:n to th~ bad.: of lhe plar.e . Nevertheles.;, 

al-Qudbaceia went to the front of the plane and attempted on :-wo occisions to cnLcr the (.;OtkpH. 

The plane made: an emergency ia.nd.ing and the FB1 mvestigated ,he rnc1dcnl, but decic!c:J no: to 

pursue a prasccution. At ~he tune, .J.1-Qudhac:ein and a.1-Sha!awi claimed that the: Saudi Embassy 

pa.id for their airplane li;~kets. 

Aftc;r the FI31 <l1scovered lrtat an individual in Phocrux who was the subject of a 

conntt::1.errorism investigation was driving al-Shabwi's car. the Burl!au opened ;1 

counte:tcrrorisr.1 in'-'cstigation on al-Shalawi. In November 2000. Lbe FBI rt.·cc:ivcd reporting 

from that al-Sh11.lawi had trnincri at the terrorist camps in Afzhamstan and had 

received e.itplosi ¥=:s :r:uru.ng lO perform "K.hcbar Towc:n. "-lypt auacks. A[lec 1he September l l, 

2(101 attxks, the Phoenix Field Office attached even potcnually greater s1gmtic2nce to tha.t l99Q 

mciden:. A Phoenix FBI communication e:r:pl.iined lh!!: theory bchit:d this . .. Phot:nix FBl uow 

'Accocdui~ tfJ O,c FBJ's Novnnbcr l8, lC-02 :c:s-p(m.,;c, although ~vaal c(fK" .• als in WA;.V.Y !iUpport :1l-Q;1'1d.a ;inJ 
otll'.!T t::rrnnst g:oups, th~ u11e!1igc:.nc.c is. i:,,;ufficic:nt ,c show whethc1 the orgil!t!7~l.mn a:; .i wiiulc and iu scruur 
ka::ku.hip 5llµpun ttnurn.:n. -
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believes both men wi::re q,ccifically attempting to te-!.t !he si:cl!rity proccdur~ of America West 

,r\irli.n~.s i.n ;,reparation for and in furth~n.nce of UBUAl Qa.eda o;)eration~." 

[n testimony before ~he Joint Inquiry, thi: agi:::nl who drafted the "Phocru.x EC .. st.atcc!: 

fa a po:.1 9/11 world, l went back and Iook::rl i!t thd as possibly being some sort of dry 
rn.1. I! is currently under investigation. 

After September ll, 2001, ::ii Qu<lbae:;·n 

In interviews, a Phoenix FBI agent stated lh:it Pboemx 

believed that al-Qudbaeein might be ·. His ptofi:e is sim!l:tr to lhat oi 

al-Bayou.ni and Bassna.n. He is in thi:: Uniten States as a s~dcnt anrl does ;io1 ha\'c a visfol= 

mc;;.ns of ir.co:ne. H~ is in frequent cont:tct with Saudi Govenmcnt est:ihlisnrnents i~ the United 

Stales and appears to be very involvc::d in the affairs of the local Sa;.:c.i community. He ri.1.m; "' 

"Sru!<li Club" in Phoenix, :me nssists Saudi students in the nrea. The FRl has i'.lso developed 

i.'lformation that a1-Qudbaeein was receiving money from the Saudi Government but, a$ of 

Augwt 2002, had !lot obtained Lie reicvant bar.k records for review. "Ibe FRI'~ Phoenix Fidd 

Office has sptt.-ulated that al-Qudhacein a.t}d others may be---· 

There arc ocher indications in FBI files tl1.1.t clemcuu; of the Saud: Govcr:ic.1cnt m.1y have 

providro imppnrt to terrClri~, nel"\Vutk!i: For example, thr FBI hac idrnti.fic.-d '~"' Ton T;1miy~h 

Mos'lue in Culver City as a site of cxtremlsl-rclated activity buih bdure and after September 11. 

Several subjects of San Diego investigation prior to September 11 had close connections to the.­

mosque. Based on interviews and revie\Y of FBI files, San Diego FBI agents believed at lhc time 

that these subjects were b.undcring mL,ney through this mosqu:: first to Somali non-profit 

organiz.ottons and th.en lo other entities affilialtd with Usarn2. Bin Ladir. 
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In approximately l 998, the FBI became aware of millions of dollars in wire transfers 

from I.he Somali community in San Diego to Al Bar~t Trading Company and olher businesses 

afiiliatcd with Usama Bio Lad.in. At the rime, the funding appeared. to be originating from the 

local Somali community in the forl!l of donations to vaiiou.s Somali non-profits. However, the 

FBI now believes that the some of the funding actulllly originated from Saudi Arabia and that 

both the Ibn Tamiyah Mosque in Los Angeles and the Islanuc Center of San Diego were 

involved jn la.undering the: money. 

A"°rdin8 to the furmc.1 FBJ agent in Sau Diego who was iuvolval in thi~ :uvc.stigAtion, 

trus scheme may allow the Saudi Government to provide nl-Q.a'ida with funding th.""Dugh covert 

or indirect means. In lus October 9, 2002 Lcstimony I.he former a.gcut commented on the pcssiu\e 

money lmm.dering: 

My guess Saudi-ir1s connected somehow with the Saudis. And knowing that probably 
70-80 percent of the population of Saudi Arabia support Usama Bin Lad.in, it might be an 
indication. 

There are also indications of Saudi govemmenral suppon for terrorist activity through 

charitable organizations. The. Saudi-basod Unun al-Qura Islamic Charitable Foundation (UQ) is 

an Islamic non-govemmental orgauizatiou Linked to terrorist suppon activities. According to a 

May 2002 Defense Intelligence Terrorism Summary, the UQ's activities in support ofterrorit.-m 

inc:lude; suspiciow money transfers, document forgery, providing jobs to wanted terrorist 

suspecu, aud financing travel for youths lo ancntl jihad training. The DcfcnS:! communication 

notes that since September 2001, UQ couriers have transport~d over S330,000 in cash, most of 

which they received from Saudi Embassies in the For East In Januucy 2002, UQ 11.dministrator 

Yas:sir F.1-Sayid Mob.unmed tr.1vcled to Thailand to pick up apprcxirlately $200,000 from the 

Saudi Embassy in Bangkok. In early November 20011 the pr.rsonal assistant to the UQ 

administrator traveled to Kuala Lumpur for a meeting at lhe Saudi Arabian Ernba.oi;sy. He 

ren1mcd with tens of thousands of dollars. according to the Department ofDcfcmc. 

CIA, Treasury, and FBI officials have all expressed their concern about the al-Haramain 

Foundation1s tics lo both the Saudi Government and terrorist activity. According to the FBI's 
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Nove.'1\bc:r l 8, 2002 response, tile al-Hil!atna.in Islamic Fouthlation frl!F) has l;latr tics to !be 

Saudi Government, and mtcnigem:c r~crt!ng suggests it 1s provid~ financtal and logistical 

support to al-Qa'ida. In 1~93, IDF csbb li.l:hed i!S U.S.-bascd office in Ashland. Oreeon. illld tba, 

of.!k!! has since r~etved zpr,roximatcly $700,000 from rbt: pmol offices in Saudi Arabia. 'fbc 

FBI has a pending investigation of HlF and tbc nctivities of the Portland HIF Office. As 

dlscusscd. above, the FBl ha,; located correspondence between a.!-Dayoumi and Llie HIF. Frotn 

the documents, it !5 clear tha! IIJF was int,:.restcd irt appointin 5 tht: imam of lhe mosque m Cajo1L 

Califom1c1, that a1-Bayoumi manag~d. 

The Trcisury G,::ncrd.l Counsel lest(ficd about his .sgencf!' concern ahout ihe foundanon: 

:..ill. Al>"FH.A USER: Second, nnd th.is is important po:nt, it aim rises out of Rick's 
tcstunony, on al-Hara.main, the two branch offic~ th2t we took ~ pub tic and joint .:ictfon 
agn.iost, al-Hara.main :eaJ.ly docs represent a .s1gr.ificanL issl!c for the l1CC and fur terrorist 
5.xui.;.cing and for the Unitc::d Slates policy. Jt is. of cours~. the larges[, I~ the larges;: 
lsh!.mic charity in the world. !ts name is sy11onymuus wi!.h charity in the Islar.uc world. 
Its direct ove~cers arc members of the Royal Family; signi ficru1t coutnbutor!> arc 
members of the Royal Family. We don't hav~ a great deal of intelligence cin the 
i'lcadqu.ancrs, about whethc::r they are knowingly assisting peop~e in al-Qa'ida ai1'1 ot.he~; 
but in signifi.cant branch offi~:oi yt:t to be designated i..Uld under current investigation, we 
have ample evidence that large cash amounts ari:: being couricrec. to those branch offices, 
that large wire tr,1nsfcrs of money are being sent to thos~ oUiccs, that a great rtr.i!! of ~he 
money is being dissip&1cd through misspending, unaccounted for, and .finally, Lht1.t those 
uiliccs have significant contacts with extremists, Islamic ext,e:r.ists. 

CTA ot1icials recent!)' testified that lhey .tre ma.1<.ing progress (.Ill lhcir investigations of ai­

HtrllJiJ2.io: 

A yc:ar ago we had a iol of reporting suggest.mg branch offices were tied to al-
Qa 'idil . .. Over the lasi year we developed a lot (>f int:::lligence and lnw enforcement 
infonnati.on and we prepillcd :i. paper about a month, six we-::ks ago which assembled. all 
of th:it . .• That paper gave us the fin;t ciear iildication that the h::-.ad of the centr3l office is 
co:nplici: in supporting terrorism, :md 1t clso raised questions woul P1ince Nayef. 

Finally, the subject of Pnoenix. and Portl,md FBI counterterrorism 

investigations, al.so h:is close ties to a member of the Saudi royal family. no longer 

rcsirl(!S in the United Staxes, hut i~ still the subject of an FB1 investigation. The Fnl upcned an 



1 ur ;:)L\..K.t..J. ' L'"\ "1/J • l" 

invcstigati.oo of 

infonnatio 

an employee of Saudi A.rcllian Airlines., in 1999 afier receiving 

that 3i n Lad.in h~u!er..ant Ahl! Z:ibafr:~ l'.ad bee..'l 

in coatict with a telephone number ~sociatcd with- in Portland. !r. M.!!.y2001, two 

mdividualt were arrested Ln Bahrain anti later admitted they we:e on ~heir wuy to blow up U.5 

facilities in Saudi Arabia. Om: of them had apa.c;s?ort th1t hJ.d been 1:.sucd to one o, 

FBI'~ Phoenix Fieid Office nlso received source reporting :n 1999 that 

wai. checking security al tru: Southwcsi borcier and c:iscussing t.bc possibility of 1r.filtr2Ling 

individuals into the Uni~cd States. 

T:1e FB1 has devclopec infommio:1 tha1 has close tics with 011: of the Saudi 

princes and accompanies him on many Lrips, rncluding t:-avc) to the U:utcd States. Accoroiag lo 

the FBI. was recently intcnogatetl at the dctL.'Iltion facility ::ir 

Guantanamo Bay. Tr~ infon:-ied the FBI that 11111111 got the j::>b at Saudi Arab1z.n Airlines through 

his contacts. He: :said tbataai did ool ::an1 much mo:it:y in this·job, bur that he "had another 

,!;all!ce of income through a Saudi prince"na,r.cc Khalic: al-3andar. According lo 

performed misccll2.11eous u.sks for ~he Prince, such as handli.,z real eslate :nartcrs 

and a<;.,;i:sting the Prince's rrandmolher . - travclod many places with th!! Prince, including 

fa:.rope, a.~d often to du: Urull':d. :\rab Emtta.tcs. · made the ctyptic corrm1cnt 

that nobody .. knew everything ab0ur .. Althougl: his nac:1e was on 1hr. S:?.te 

Depa."1.mem's walchlist. was apparentiy able lo c1rct:mvca: the Customs Sci vice 

a.nd the Immigration and t-:a:Urillization Service because he wa!: traveling w1lh the: S:mdi prince . 

Tne 1--m only learned of the trip aJkr the fact Agc:nts m the FBi's Portla.uj F:cld Offic~ 

expressed their concern that - and others were using their stat.us as Saudi Arabian 

Airlines empluyef."S as ~ cover to enable them t,1 transport w~apons irr and ou~ ofthe United 

States. 

L:ack of Saudi Cooperation iD Couotcrttrrorism Invcstig-otions 

in testimony and interviews, d number of FBI agents and CIA offic.ers complained lo tht: 

Joint Inquiry about a lack of Sa•Jdi cooperation in terrori.-.m investigations ho~h before wd alter 

thi: September 11 11.uacb. For i:xample 1 i!. vclernn New York FBI agcut !itated that, from his 
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point of view, the Saudis have bec11 useless and obstructionist for years. In this agent's opinion, 

lhe Saudis will ODly act when it is in their self-inlcrest. 

When a high-level. officer was asked hnw the September 11 at:acks mighl have been 

pravented, he cited greater Saudi coo~ration. pointing to an example from the summer of 2001, 

when the U.S. Government requested Saudi assistance, with no success. In May 2001, the U.S. 

Government became aware that an ~ndividual in Saudi Arabia w2.5 in conta.cl witt Abu Zubaida 

and was most likely aware ofan upcoming al-Qa'ida operation. The U.S. Govern.men: pressured 

~c Sr.udi Govammcor co locate hini. The SCLudi:i informed tba U.S. Government thn~ I.hey 

required additional information to do so. The U.S Governmcru agency that had originally 

learned of this individual's knowledge refused to provid~ the Saudis with additional information 

because it w~uld rcsveal so\D"Ces and methods. The NatinoaJ Security Council also tried to 

pressure the Saudis, but the Saudis would not cooperate without the additionnl information. 

According to some FBI personnel, tlwi type of response is ~ical from the Saudis. For 

example, one FB( agent described one investigation after September 11 in wbJ.ch he provided the 

Saudi Government with copies of the subjecls' Sautli passports. The Saudi Government 

m:iiutained that they bed no record of the subjects. 

According to the iormeu: Chief of Alec Station, the unit in tr.e DCrs Countertcrrorist 

Center established in 1996 lo focus specifically on Usama Bin Ladk, it was clear from ahot:.t 

1996 tbnt the Saudi Govcmmcnt would nol cooperute with th~ Unired States on matters relating 

to Usama Bin Ladin. There is a May 1996 memo from the Del's Counte:rtmorist Center .. 

• stating that the Saudis hnd stopped providing background infomwtion or other assis1a."1oc on 

Bm I.adin because Bin Ladin bad "loo much infonnation about official Saudi dealings with 

Islamic extremists in \he 1980s for Riyadh to deliver him i11lo U.S. hands." hi a knc: 1997 

memo to the DCI.. Alce Station recmphasi1.cd the lack of Saudi cooperation and stated !bat there 

wa5 liUle prospect of future cooperation regarding Bin Ladin. The (Olmcr Chief o: Ale= Stn!ion 

thought that the U.S. Government's hope of eventually obtaining Saudi cooperation was 

unrealistic bi:causc Saudi ~istancc to the U.S. Government on this maner was contrary to Silllui 

national interests. 
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2002: 

---------------
testified on this issue on October 9, 

On the issue of al-Qa'ida and Saudi intelligence, that goes back lo our c.ITons to interxl 
with the Saudi to get them to help us on invcslipti.Dg al-Qe'ida ... for me most pan it was 
a very troubled relationship where the Saudis were not providing us quicl:ly or very 
vigorously with response to it Sometimes they did, many times lhey didn't. ll was just 
very slow in coming. 

Both FBI and CIA personnel cited an individual named Mada.ni al-'fayyih as a specific 

case in which the.Saudis were uncoopcrati\'e. The CIA and the FBI bad been pressuring L11c 

Saudis for years for pennission to talk to ai-Tayyib. According to the fonner head of ALEC 

Station, al-Tayyib managed nil of Bin La.din's finances when Bin Lwlin WWI in Sudan, anci any 

expense over Sl,000 had to he approved by al-Tayyib. Al-Tayyib moved to London in 1996 to 

work with Khalid a.I-Fawwaz. another important al-Qa'ida figure who bas since been arrestc..1.i In 

the summer of 1996, al-Tayyab returned to Saudi Arabia. The Sau1lis cot1linuously refused the 

f'Drs and the ClA's requests to talk :o al-Tayyib. stating, m the words of an FBI agent, that al· 

Tayyib was .. just a poor man who lost his leg. He doesn't bow anything." 

The former chiefof Alec S!.ation also cited the example of Mohmuned Jani al Khalifa. 

Khalifa is Bio Ladin's brother-in-law and an important figure in al-Qa'ida. The U.S. 

Govenuncnl arrested I<.halifa in the United States in 1994. Khalifa had been sentenced to death 

in absentia by the Jordanian Government for his role in a bombing in Jordan. A:;; a result, t.i.e 

U.S. agreed lO eittraditc him to Jordan. The Jordanians then returned hir.1 to Saudi Ambia. In the 

opinion of the ClA officer, the Saudis ''boughr off" the Jordanians for the return of Khalifa. 

ACGOrding to the CIA officer, when Kbalifa subsequently arrived i:1 Saudi A.-abia, be was met by 

al least one importa..,t govc:mmen!. nffir.i~I. lChalifa 110w worles for:. ~iyarlh-mc:P.11 NGO and 

travclr. and opc:ratcs freely. 

Toe Oroc.ral Couns~l of the U.S. Treasury Department testified at the Ju!y 23, 2002 

hearing aboul the lack of Saudi cooperation with the U.S.: 
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The.e is an almost intuitive sense, howt"ver, tnat tlti:lgs arc not being voluntee.--ed. So l 
want to fully mfonn you about it. !hat \Ve have to ask a..'ld we have to seek md we h.ave re 
.:.trivc. f will give you onc:-and-a-half uamples. Tue: fust is, aftc1 som~ period. tho Se.ucl:s 
have agreed to the dcs.i~ation of a rnao named Julaydin, who 1;; notoriously invo:,O.e,c in 
a:J of th.is; and his des1gnat1on will he public wiLhin the next 10 days. They came forward 
to us 2 weeks ago aod siud, okay, we think we should go forv.·ard with the designation 
and a freeze order against Mr. Julaydin. We asked, what do you !lav!!: on him? Becaus~ 
they certainly know wh:u we bve on him, because we shared it as we tritd to convince 
them that they ought to join us. The answer back was, nothing new. 

MR BEREUTER: l>o you believe :hat? 

MR. AUFHAUSER. No. l think that taxes credulity, or chere is another mot1v:= we arc nor 

being told. 

Status of Lhc U.S. lute11igcoce Community's lovestigations in to Connections Bctweeu 
Terrorism and S;tadi Government Officials 

Both the FBI and the CIA 'have in:onned the Commitlees ti~at lhc:y arc trcatine the Saudi 

issue senously. Accord.mg to chc November 18, .2002 FBI rcspor..sc, lhc fHI and CIA have 

esb.blished a working group to look into the Sa-.,cii issue. TI1e FBI furrr.:!d a squad at the 

Washi.ngton Field Office to investig.a~e thr.s is.sue n I 

I 



However, bath the FBI n.nd the. CIA sttl! have only a limiLed uoden;t2.."1din; of th~ Saud: 

Govemmenl':i fa .. ""5 to t::rrorist elemcnlS. L, the Ocl0be1 9, 2002 closed hearing. Director Mueller 

stated: 

If r have cne prdiminary note of caution. it i~ tha: at this poi.it thc:t: are mo;e questions 
tr.a..'l. answers, a.Tid I would c:autio.:i agams: JWTiping to conc.lus1.>ns before we know a lot 
nmrc. 

A document locnted by 6e Joint Inquiry Staff confinns tha: the FBl's Washington Field 

Office is :.Lill in the early stages of focusing oo chest inve!iligations. ln an August 15, 2002, 

communication, a field office: agent stakd that ' :~ ·. 

lha! !-.ame document, the Washington Field Office asked 

ack.nowlccl.ged in his 

!esti.mony that th~ understanding of this issue is limited as well. 

With regard to the. specific qu!:st10n of have we 5cen thi:: Sa~1di mtei;igc:nce .,;.ervu:,cs 
supporting tt:rror g:ou?S, I think the record is not ciear at ail on ~hat. 

Do!.h the FBI and CIA recognized the possibility that mdivu~uals cunr.ccted to tne Saudi 

Government may be providing support to tcr.orists. 

tc:sufied.: 

So there is certainly .1 good, gooll chance that there ~.re sympatluz.ers ur cxm:,r.ists, 
sympalhiz.ers possibly for al-Qa'ida within the security services. 

also notC'd tha:_ 

in 

Abu Zubaydah said he's confident that al-Qa'ida mus~ have c.o~tact certainly w1!h Saucis 
in the United State.,;; and that al·Qa'ida and Usama Hin Lad.in 2.rc panicuh!.r~y- they 

J,.1,•._ ..... ,, .. ., ....... 



invest significant energy in cultivHting what Abu Zubaydah called good n::btionships 
with Saudis of all standing ... He said bin Ladin 1s very pleased when Snudis in t.he 
military, those !;Uccessful in business and those close to rhe royal bmily to lend acti,•e 
support to his caus~. He said bir. Lu.tin actively seeks out st:.c:t relationships 

Other CLA.. and FIH officials ecaoe<! these remarks in rece:,t CmgrcssionaJ tcstim<..it~Y-

• stated: 

What we fmd rroubling about L'1e cases tluit we lea.."1led about from FBI. hoth t"le Los 
Angeles Ci!Scs a:1u sorn:: of Lhe ca.,c=..'> th.at the Washington field Office has looked at, in 
which you 're scemg Saudi :non.;y going 10 people, is lha: it fits sort of a pattern that 
we've seen in terms of d:rect payments from thr. S2.lldis, the Saudi Government's 
longstanding support for very fundamcotalist Wahabi and Salafi charities a.,d movemen~s 
around the world, \Vbich in a s~nsc you !:ct: the money is going to fundau1eo.talistS a ... '1.U 
you ,;vould be very ~urprised if some of it do!!sn 't bleed over into terronst 
support ... We'\'e had a lot ofsuspicion.i; before Septemh1..T 11 which wr:: docu.-nctncd inn 
num.ba of di£feren: papers, and Jgain it's a lot of smoke and tlu: :ssuC!:. that comt: U? ue 
who knows about the payments, on whose behalf aie ttc payment~ hemg cadc, a:e r.hey 
being made an bci1alf of Uw cc:nnal government or a:-e they heing made by a local of5cial 
or a person. Dn the peopie who arc making the payments km; .... what's happ::ning to the 
tnoncy? lf they do know whnt's happening, why an: they mak ing the payuu::nLr;? Is tt a 
fonn of black.mail? iJo they recognizt: the terrorist sup?on? Tb~ro·s the issue of arc they 
regulating themselves as. weU as arc they doing the due diligence that they ought to. 

FB[ Executive: Assist:mt O;rectorPJsquale D'A.mu.o testified 2~ t~at sa.,i:::: hearing: 

To date I can't sit here and tell you that those llcs go back, that we can prove that the 
Saudi ,oyal fumily is i.pon.soring terrorism. But lhere's enough smoke that we arc 
conducting s~veral investigations to try to determine what other informat ion is out there. 

What is clear is thnt the FBI did not trea~ the Saudis <iS a countc::i.c:rrorism I 
threat pnor to September 11. 2001. 
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Michael Rolince, the former head of the International Terrorism Operations Section at 

FBI testified: 

The answer to your question is pre-9/11 there were not any significant preliminary 
inquiry or full investigations, with relatively few exceptions, conducted hy the FBI 
looking at Sa di or support to terrorism ... I'm not g ing to stand 
here. Ms. Hill, and tell you in any way , shape pe or form 

The former Assistant Special Agent in Charge in San Diego confim1ed this in his 

testimony: 

Basically, . They 
were not a country identified by the State Department as a state sponsor of terrorism. 
And the theme or the common modus operandi that we saw i11 San Diego was that if there 

there, their primary objective was to monitor dissidents in the 
the royal family. So they were not viewed as an inimical threat to 

In the October 9, 2002 closed hearing, Director Mueller acknowledged that he became 

aware of some of tbe facts regarding the Saudi issue only as a result of the investigative work of 

the Joint Inquiry Staff: 

I'm saying the sequence of events here, I think the staff probed and, .!S a result of the 

probing. some facts came to light here and to me, frankly, that had not come to light 
before, and perhaps would not have come to light had the staff not probeJ. That's ·s what 
I'm telling you. So I'm agreeing with you that the staff probing brought out facts that 
may not have come to this Committee." 

Senator Dewine: But what you 're also saying, though, is that that probing then brought 

facts to your attention. 

Director Mueller: Yes. 
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